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Ms. Laurie Solis

Environmental Science Associates

4221 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 480

Los Angeles, CA  90010

Re:
Historic Resource Evaluation

City of Los Angeles, Fire Station #21

Dear Ms. Solis:

We have been asked to briefly evaluate the properties located at 1162-1164, 1166, 1168-1170 and 1180 East 51st Street and 1165, 1167, 1169-1177and 1187 East 52nd Street in the City of Los Angeles (collectively “subject properties”) for historic significance, as the buildings on these sites are proposed for demolition.

The subject properties contain the following buildings:

(A) 1162-1164 East 51st Street — three single story residences, located mid-block, on the south side of East 51st Street (Property A, Figure 1);

(B) 1166 East 51st Street — a single story residence, located mid-block, on the south side of East 51st Street (Property B, Figure 2);

(C) 1168-1170 East 51st Street — a single story residence, located mid-block, on the south side of East 51st Street (Property C, Figure 3);

(D) 1180 East 51st Street — a single story residence, located mid-block, on the south side of East 51st Street (Property D, Figure 4);

(E) 1165 East 52nd Street — a single story residence, located mid-block, on the north side of East 52nd Street (Property E, Figure 5);

(F) 1167 East 52nd Street — four single story residences, located mid-block, on the north side of East 52nd Street (Property F, Figure 6);

(G) 1169-1177 East 52nd Street — eight single story residences located mid-block, on the north side of East 52nd Street (Property G, Figure 7); and

(H) 1187 East 52nd Street — a single story fire station, five-story training tower and pump pit, located mid-block, on the north side of East 52nd Street (Property H, Figures 8-14).

The subject properties occupy ten parcels located mid-block on a rectangular city block, between East 51st Street (to the north) and East 52nd Street (to the south), residential properties (to the west) and Hooper Avenue School (to the east, Figures 1-14, Figure 15: Parcel Map).

The following analysis was prepared to evaluate historical resource impacts of the proposed demolition of the buildings on the subject properties.  This analysis evaluates the buildings for historic significance, under applicable statues and regulations of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and California Register of Historical Resources (California Register).

According to CEQA,

an historical resource is a resource listed in, or determined eligible for listing in, the California Register of Historical Resources.  Historical resources included in a local register of historical resources..., or deemed significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (g) of Section 5024.1, are presumed to be historically or culturally significant for purposes of this section, unless the preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that the resource is not historically or culturally significant (Public Resources Code 21084.1).

California Register of Historical Resources
The California Office of Historic Preservation (OHP) established the California Register as an authoritative guide to historical resources in the state.  Criteria used for inclusion of properties in this listing are as follows:  “While the significance criteria for the California Register are similar to those used by the National Register of Historic Places (National Register), this… California Register will document the unique history of the Golden State.”  To qualify for listing in the California Register, the resource must retain integrity and meet at least one of the following criteria: 

1. Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of California’s history and cultural heritage.

2. Is associated with the lives of persons important in our past.

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, or represents the work of an important creative individual or possesses high artistic values.

4. Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

Integrity is defined in the National Register program as a property's ability to convey its significance.  Evaluation of integrity may be somewhat a subjective judgment, however it must be founded on “an understanding of a property’s physical features and how they relate to its significance” (National Park Service, Department of the Interior How to Complete the National Register Registration Form).

Substantial Adverse Change

If the proposed project created substantial adverse change in an historical resource, environmental clearance for the project would require mitigation measures to reduce impacts. “Substantial adverse change in the significance of an historical resource means the physical demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate surroundings 

such that the significance of an historical resource would be materially impaired” (Public Resources Code 15064.5 (b)(1)).  Public Resources Code 15064.5 (b)(2) describes material impairment taking place when a project:

(A) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an historical resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its inclusion in, or eligibility for, inclusion in the California Register... ; or

(B) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics that account for its inclusion in a local register... or its identification in an historical resources survey... unless the public agency reviewing the effects of the project establishes by a preponderance of evidence that the resource is not historically or culturally significant; or

(C) Demolishes or materially alters those physical characteristics of an historical resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its inclusion in, or eligibility for, inclusion in the California Register... as determined by a lead agency for the purposes of CEQA.

Standards and Guidelines

Projects which are found to comply with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring, and Reconstructing Historic Buildings (1995, Weeks and Grimmer, Standards and Guidelines), may qualify for a categorical exemption from the requirements of CEQA if they conform to 15331 Historical Resource Restoration/Rehabilitation:

Class 31 consists of projects limited to maintenance, repair, stabilization, rehabilitation, restoration, preservation, conservation or reconstruction of historical resources in a manner consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring, and Reconstructing Historic Buildings (1995), Weeks and Grimmer.

Summary of Results

The results of this evaluation are that Properties A-G (1162-1164, 1166, 1168-1170 and 1180 East 51st Street, and 1165, 1167 and 1169-1177 East 52nd Street) do not appear to qualify for California Register listing and thus as historical resources under CEQA.  Only Property H (Fire Station #21) appears to qualify for listing in the California Register, and therefore as an historical resource under CEQA.  Because Properties A-G do not qualify as historical resources, their demolition would not have an effect on historical resources.  No further evaluation of project effects on Properties A-G is necessary under CEQA as it relates to cultural resources.

While the proposed project, which may involve demolition or alteration of Property H (Fire Station #21) would likely result in a finding of substantial adverse change on the identified historical resource, it may result in a less-than-significant impact on the historical resource, if proposed alterations and additions were found to be consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and project mitigation would reduce impacts on the historical resource to a less than significant level.

Historical Resources in South Central Los Angeles

Portions of the South Central Los Angeles area have been previously surveyed for historic resources.  Properties nearby which have been evaluated for historic significance are listed in the OHP “Directory of Properties in the Historic Property Data File for Los Angeles County” (“Historic Property Data File,” updated to April 13, 2000).  The properties are:

Address




Year Built
National Register Status

1003 East 51st Street



1907

5S

1011 East 51st Street



1896

6

1273 East 51st Street



1898

6

1279 East 51st Street



1899

5S

1031 East 52nd Street



1905

6

1039 East 52nd Street



1895

6

1124 East 52nd Street



1924

6Y2

1125 East 52nd Street



1895

6Y2

1160 East 52nd Street



1930

3S

4909 South Central Avenue


1906

6

4920 South Central Avenue


1900

4S

5006 South Central Avenue


1927

6Z1

5111 South Central Avenue


1924

6Y2

5116 South Central Avenue


1921

6Y2

The majority of the properties listed above were found to be National Register status code “6,” “6Y2,” or “6Z1.”  National Register status code “6” is defined as “determined ineligible for National Register listing.”  “6Y2” is defined as “determined ineligible for listing in the National Register by consensus, no potential [for listing in the] National Register, not evaluated for local listing.” “6Z1” is defined as “found ineligible for National Register with no potential for any listing.”  1160 East 52nd Street was found to be “3S,” or “appears eligible for listing in the National Register as a separate property.”  4920 South Central Avenue was found to be “4S,” or “may become eligible for National Register as a separate property.”  Both 1003 and 1279 East 51st Street were found to be “5S,” or “eligible for local listing only.”
Of the subject properties, only Property H, Fire Station #21 at 1187 East 52nd Street was included in the “Historic Property Data File,” with a National Register status code of “6” (determined ineligible for National of Historic Places listing).
  The remaining subject properties are not included in the “Historic Property Data File.”  Because they are not included in the “Historic Property Data File,” it is presumed that they have not previously been evaluated for historic significance.

Five designated Historic-Cultural Monuments are located nearby the subject properties.  All of the existing buildings, excluding the site of the original Vernon Branch Library, have been surveyed for eligibility for listing in the National Register. 

Dunbar Hotel

4225 South Central Avenue (Historic-Cultural Monument #131)

Built in 1928, and originally known as the Somerville Hotel, the Dunbar Hotel is significant for its role in black history.  It is separately listed in the National Register.

(Site of) the Original Vernon Branch Library

4504 South Central Avenue (Historic-Cultural Monument #306)

The library contained a large collection of books on black history and is significant for its social and educational importance.

Residence

917 East 49th Place (Historic-Cultural Monument #517)

An Eastlake style building built in 1885.  It was determined eligible for separate listing in the National Register. 

Residence

1207 East 55th Street (Historic-Cultural Monument #518)

Architect George Sills designed this two-story building with masonry veneer.  It was determined eligible for separate listing in the National Register.

Golden State Mutual Life Insurance Building #1

4261 South Central Avenue (Historic-Cultural Monument #580)

African-American architect James H. Garrott designed this Spanish Renaissance Revival building in 1929.  It is significant for its association with Golden State Mutual Life Insurance, one of the five largest African American owned insurance companies in the United States.  It is separately listed in the National Register.

In order to evaluate the remaining subject properties, they must be considered within the community’s historic context.  The following section provides an overview of the history of South Central Los Angeles.

South Central Los Angeles Historical Overview

The subject properties are located in the Southeast Los Angeles Community Plan area, which is bounded by the Interstate-10, Santa Monica Freeway on the north, Alameda Street and Central Avenue on the east, Imperial Highway on the south, with Figueroa Street on the west, and encompasses the communities of Central, Avalon, Green Meadows and Watts.

The City of Los Angeles was founded on September 4, 1781, and began as a small pueblo known as “Nuestra Senora La Reina de Los Angeles.”  The original pueblo was granted jurisdiction by the Spanish governor Felipe de Neve over four square leagues of land radiating out from the central plaza.  A league is variously defined as “2.633573 miles or 5,000 varas according to... U.S. Surveys... A square league... equals 6.935 plus square miles or about 4,338 acres.”
  This 20-mile boundary remained unchanged through Spanish, Mexican and American ownership.  The area surrounding the Pueblo was simultaneously developed, the land to the southeast was used mainly for cattle pastures.  This area, south of the Pueblo and north of present-day Firestone Boulevard, though not technically within the boundaries of the Pueblo, was loosely under its government.  The area south of Firestone Boulevard became part of Rancho Tajauta, when in 1843, Governor Manuel Micheltorena granted Anastacio Ábila rights to the area in a Mexican land grant.

California became a state in 1850, and the area around Los Angeles was surveyed to establish ownership boundaries.  The city’s right to four-square leagues of land was confirmed, the southern limit of which was at present-day Exposition Boulevard.  Rancho Tajuata boundaries, though, were reconfigured.  Some of the land between present day Figueroa Street and Central Avenue became public land and was quickly parceled and sold.  This area became known as Green Meadows.  The area between Los Angeles city limits and Rancho Tajuata, including the communities of Central and Avalon, also became public land.

In 1869, the city’s first rail line, the Los Angeles & San Pedro Railroad tracks were run along current day Alameda Street, passing through the communities southeast of Los Angeles, and along the northeast corner of Rancho Tajuata.
  According to contemporary accounts, the rail line became a permanent north-south barrier to the growing community, a condition that continues to this day.

During the rancho period, the Ábila family prospered in the hide trade, grazing livestock in the area until the mid 1870s.  Both cattle and sheep were retained in large pastures throughout the rancho. Once Phineas Banning’s harbor at Wilmington-San Pedro became active, a stage route carrying both passengers and freight traversed the west perimeter of the Rancho Tajuata.  By 1866, Banning took an option to buy about a third of the rancho, which was subject to confirmation of title.  After title was confirmed in 1873, Banning transferred his rights, and the Ábila family “divided and deeded away much of theirs.”
  Through the 1870s, farming was replacing the cattle trade in the area, and by 1874, Ábila heirs partitioned Rancho Tajuata.

As the result of a court decision, the Ábila descendants parceled out the rancho to four additional parties.  Local surveyor John Goldsworthy platted the area, his field books show the southern portion of the land being used for grazing, under lease to others.  Los Angeles merchants, the Mellus family, had purchased Banning’s option.  Another surveyor, George Hansen had been engaged by Banning to divide the rancho, and was paid in ownership of 248 acres.  Fledgling local developer, J.S. Slauson acquired the southeast portion of the rancho as well.

Goldsworthy’s 1874 plat maps set boundaries that continue to this day:  the northern edge is now Firestone Avenue, the western rancho limit became Central Avenue, Rosecrans Boulevard on the south was the original border to Rancho San Pedro, and Wilmington Avenue served as the western demarcation line.
  Goldsworthy recorded approximately 20 farmsteads with artesian wells.

In 1876, the Southern Pacific railroad opened, linking Los Angeles to the East.  By the 1880s, Santa Fe Railroad opened a competing transcontinental line, and Los Angeles underwent explosive population and economic growth.  Land south of the Los Angeles was staked out into town sites and heavily promoted by speculators looking to cash in on the abundance of emigrants.  Among these “towns” were Nadeau Park, located in the Slauson/Compton Avenue area, Vernondale, centered at present-day Vernon and Central avenues, and Vernon, located on Central Avenue near Jefferson Street.
  Residential lots soon lined the railroad rights-of-way on Alameda Street and Slauson Avenue.  
Henry Huntington’s Pacific Electric Railroad Company opened an interurban line connecting Los Angeles with Long Beach on July 4, 1902.  Developers Julia A. Watts (1837-1933) and W.R. Harris wisely donated 10 acres of right-of-way for both tracks and a station,
 and laid out several blocks of residential and commercial lots, forming the community of Watts.  The resulting railroad station is now Watts Station, located at 1686-1690 East 103rd Street (Historic-Cultural Monument #36).
  Watts was a hub of the Pacific Electric interurban system, connections were made there to four other lines, serving the South Bay, San Pedro, Long Beach and Orange County.

Plentiful, clean water was also a factor in the development of the area southeast of Los Angeles.  As homes and farms were settled, irrigation ditches distributing water from the Los Angeles River were extended to support these new communities, and by the 1880s the ditches extended outside the city limits and as far south as Slauson Avenue.  These new communities were annexed into Los Angeles when a court ruling in 1898 declared sale of water by Los Angeles to residents outside of city limits was illegal.  Watts and the Florence-Firestone area relied on artesian wells for water supply, and thus were able to avoid annexation into the city in the 1890s.

In 1907, with one voting precinct, Watts was incorporated as “a municipality of the sixth class.”
  The new City Council was commonly known as the Board of Trustees.  From its beginning, one of Watts’ distinguishing features was the diversity of its population.  About the time of incorporation, an area of African-American settlement grew within Watts, which was commonly called Mud Town.
  By the 1920s, the single voting district had expanded to eight precincts and the small community had difficulty providing services to its ever-increasing population.  By election, Watts was annexed to Los Angeles in 1926.  Part of the reason for consolidation was the need for additional educational and health facilities, as well as improved street lighting, drainage and sewage systems.
  Because Green Meadows was located between Watts and the Los Angeles city limits, it too was annexed by Los Angeles in order to maintain contiguous boundaries.

In the early 1900s, Los Angeles’ African-American community was located in the area around Central Avenue, and expanded south along the Central Avenue streetcar line following World War I and through the 1920s.  This area became the heart of the African-American community, in part because of deed restrictions, social and employment discrimination, which made it difficult for minorities to settle in other areas.  During the second World War, as employment opportunities expanded, African-Americans began to settle in Los Angeles in increasing numbers.  According to the report prepared by a California gubernatorial commission after the 1965 Los Angeles riots, “New arrivals understandably gravitated to the areas already occupied by 

Negroes- Central Avenue and Watts.”  Deed restrictions enforced until at least the late 1940s 

made it nearly impossible for persons of color to rent or buy property elsewhere.  As a result, 

Watts soon filled up and Negro neighborhoods began to expand in adjacent areas to the north, south and west.  As they did, Los Angeles saw Caucasians following the same pattern that other cities had witnessed:  They moved out when the Negro population in any particular neighborhood increased to appreciable proportions.  Thus over the course of a quarter century did the large majority of the Negro population in Los Angeles, as elsewhere, come to reside in segregated areas.

The area became increasingly African-American during the 1950s and early 1960s.  After passage of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, strained race relations in the United States seemed destined to improve.  However, in the summer of 1964, African-American communities in seven eastern cities erupted in violent, race-related riots.  Nearly a year later, the Watts Riots (also known as the Watts Rebellion) developed from a routine Highway Patrol incident on August 11, 1965, and lasted nearly a week.  It was the most notorious among American race riots of the period, and was symbolic of the turbulent mid-1960s.  Among the many studies that examined the causes of the Watts Riots, the governor’s commission concluded that it was the cumulative result of high unemployment, poor schools, inadequate housing and acutely bad relations with the local police.  After six days of social unrest, 34 people were dead, more than 1,000 were wounded and estimated property damage was from $50 to $100 million.
  In the decades after the riots, already slow capital investment in the community diminished.

Among the positive results of the riots was the formation of the Watts Labor Community Action Committee (WLCAC), a non-profit, community-based organization, “dedicated to improving the quality of life for residents in South Central Los Angeles.”
  Founded in 1965, though partnership with seven international labor unions and the UCLA Institute of Industrial Relations it is WLCAC’s mission to “provide a wide range of community services, economic development activities and community preservation initiatives that engage community residents.”

Although WLCAC became a world-renowned leader in community self-determination, its headquarters were burned during the 1992 Civil Unrest,
 set off by the acquittal of four local policemen accused in the beating of Rodney King.  Ironically, its facility damage was the largest caused by that riot, estimated at more than $4 million.  A new headquarters was completed in 

1994, at 108th and Central Avenue.  In 1999, WLCAC initiated a successful cultural tourism program highlighting the community called “Watts is LA.”

Los Angeles Fire Department
In 1850, the rapidly expanding Los Angeles City Council authorized the establishment of a fire department.  No real action was taken until 21 years later, when an all-volunteer fire department was planned.  Until that time, the growing city had no firehouse, department, or trained firefighters.  Volunteers had to physically drag engines to emergencies.  After an acrimonious fight, City Council authorized the purchase of two horses for the purpose.

The first paid employee came to the department in 1872.  More than two decades later, the fire department came of age when an 1898 bond issue provided $150,000 earmarked for purchase of property and construction of 12 municipally-owned fire stations, a fireman’s pension and modernizing the community’s antiquated fire alarm system.

In 1887, the first city-owned fire station, Engine Company #1 became home for the first hanging horse harness.  The fire department’s first drill tower was at First and Hill Streets, used to train both salaried and volunteer firefighters. The tower included a 2,000-pound bell that served as an integral part of the city’s first fire alarm system. With a goal of increasing the efficiency of skills learned on the job and broadening the knowledge of fire fighting, a new wooden drill tower was constructed in 1911 adjacent to Engine Company #1.

Through the twentieth century, as the city of Los Angeles became a major metropolitan area, the fire department became increasingly sophisticated.  In 1940, the fire department suffered voluntary retirement of nearly all of its the top officers.  According to Captain Larry Schneider, 

This loss, coupled with the entry of the United States into World War II, marked one of the most serious periods of staffing shortages experienced…  When Pearl Harbor was bombed, the entire Fire Department was recalled and remained on duty until military authorities said it was safe to resume normal working conditions.

It was during this time that Fire Station #21 was built.

The following sections describe each of the subject properties and their histories.  Refer to Figure 22 for sources of information used in the narrative.  Most birth and death dates and locations are from the California Social Security Death Index.  All of the described persons were researched in the afore-mentioned state death index, and Los Angeles Central Los Angeles Public Library, History & Genealogy Department, California Index.

Building Descriptions and Histories

The subject properties are on ten parcels located mid-block on a rectangular city block, between East 51st Street (to the north) and East 52nd Street (to the south), residential properties (to the west) and Hooper Avenue School (to the east, Figures 1-14, Figure 15:  Parcel Map, Figures 16 and 17: Sanborn Fire Insurance Co, Maps, 1922 and 1953 respectively).

Property A
Description:  Property A is a grouping of three small, single story residential buildings.  The three buildings are arranged north to south and are opposite three similar small residential buildings, which face a central, concrete driveway.  Each of the three buildings has a front-facing, gabled roof, with a smaller, front-facing inset front porch roof.  The raised front porches are supported on four unequally spaced posts, and have solid railings with off-center stoops.  The three buildings have various combinations of aluminum sliding windows with security bars and doors.  The buildings were most likely re-clad in the present heavily textured stucco, over original wood siding.  The roofs are clad in asphalt shingles.  The buildings occupy a flat, rectangular lot, simply landscaped by a lawn and shrubs.  A chain link fence delineates the front yard at the sidewalk.

History:  The first building on Property A (1162 East 51st Street) was built in 1921 for Samuel Governale.  It is described on the building permit as a “four room, one-story residence for one family” erected at a cost of $1,000.  The second and third buildings, 1164 and 1164 ½ East 51st Street were erected in 1922, for $1,300 each.

Governale (1898-1968) never lived at Property A, his address is listed at nearby 1181 East 51st Street.  In Los Angeles city directories, Governale is variously listed between 1921 and 1926 as a building contractor and a fruit vendor.  He is not listed in the directories after 1926, and may have relocated to Chicago, Illinois, where he died 42 years later, in 1968.

Property B
Description:  The building is a single story residence, configured in an irregular rectangle in plan. Two bays wide, it has front facing gabled roof.  Originally a simple shiplap sided bungalow, it has been significantly altered by the addition of uncut natural stone to the front porch and east bay.  In addition, the east bay has been added on, and steps-out past the plane of the front porch.  Front facing windows have been replaced with aluminum sliders and security bars.  The side chimney has been dismantled to the roofline.  The building has nesting, front-facing gables, but the bay addition has a flat roof, with asphalt roofing overhanging the elevation.  The main gable is finished in the original wood siding.  The building is set toward the front of a level, rectangular lot, landscaped with mature trees.  A driveway runs along the west side of the building leading to a rear garage.  There is a chain link fence at the sidewalk.

History:  The building was probably built before 1906.  The 1906 Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. map shows a small L-shaped residence, with a full-length porch at the rear of the property.  In 1914, John J. Husnick (who lived nearby at Property E until 1912) received a permit “to move on same lot and repair” for $250.  No records were located regarding John J. Husnick, who would have been “of age” in 1914 to carry out the house relocation.  His profession is listed in the 1908 city directory as a peddler, and by 1912, as a teamster.  By 1916, Husnick moved to 909 Doris.  He may have been Wenzel Husnick, who was born in 1899 and died in 1983.

Another permit was obtained in 1944 to re-roof, by Bunyan Anderson.  Bunyan Ray Anderson was born in Oklahoma in 1906, and died in Los Angeles in 1955.

Property C
Description:  The building is a single story residence, configured in an irregular L in plan.  Two bays wide, it has an inset front porch.  The building is Spanish Eclectic in style, and is finished in rough-textured stucco.  The main bay has three narrow, arched, multi-light windows (with security bars), the largest at the center.  The bay has a front-facing gable and small, oval louver at the apex.  The sides of the front elevation are battered, giving the building a picturesque quality.  The entrance is inset, behind an arched wall.  The simple concrete front porch is raised, and has two narrow, French doors.  A stepped parapet runs behind the porch.  The roof-wall junction has plain coping.  An aluminum slider replaced a side window.  The building is set toward the front of a flat, rectangular lot, and has a front yard planted in lawn.  A driveway runs along the east side of the building leading to a garage at the rear of the property.  A chain link fence encloses the yard.

History:  The 1170 East 51st Street residence was built in 1929 for William A. and Anne B. (also cited as Anna and Annie) Hudson.  Mr. Hudson was employed as a gardener for the City Parks Department.  The property was developed as a “six room, one-story residence” and one-story garage.  The cost of the residence was $3,500 and the garage $150.  Mr. and Mrs. Hudson resided in the house until approximately 1940.  According to the building permit, the architect was Joseph M. Goldberg.

Joseph M. Goldberg prepared plans for an apartment building for J.J. Slowinski, at 964 Fedora Street, and his address may have been on Brooklyn Avenue in Boyle Heights.
  It is not known whether the apartment building was ever constructed.  No other records for an architect or designer by that name were located.

In 1973, Bill Jackson lived at 1168 ½ East 51st Street.  There may have been a second residence on the lot, but it appears to have been demolished.

Property D
Description:  The building is a single story residence, configured in an irregular L in plan. Two bays wide, it has front facing gabled roof.  The building has some Arts & Crafts features and is clad in shiplap siding.  The central, front porch has been altered by the addition of a false, Spanish tiled, hipped roof, and the replacement of porch supports with decorative metal supports. The side bays consist of grouped, narrow, three-part, 10-light (2-2-2-2) windows.  The medium pitched roof has overhanging eaves, extended rafter tails, and a decorative, three part vent at the apex of the gable.  The building is set toward the front of a level, rectangular lot.  A driveway runs along the east side of the building leading to a small rear garage.  There is a decorative metal fence at the sidewalk.

History:  The 1180 East 51st Street residence was built in 1928 for Lloyd F. and Gladys May Silvers.  Mr. Silvers worked as a letter carrier for the postal service.  Lloyd Francis Silvers was born in Kansas in 1893, and died in Los Angeles in 1949.  Mrs. Silvers was born in Georgia in 1898, and died in San Luis Obispo in 1977.  The property was developed as a “six room, one-story residence for one family” and one-story garage.  The cost of the residence was $4,500.  Mr. and Mrs. Silvers resided in the house until approximately 1940.  According to the building permit, the contractor was F.R. Rodgers.  No information was located on Mr. Rodgers.

Property E
Description:  The building is a single story residence, configured in an irregular L in plan. Two bays wide, it has an intersecting, front and side gabled roof.  The front porch has an extended shed roof and is supported on plain posts.  The raised porch railing is simple wood slats.  The building is finished in smooth stucco, probably over the original wood siding.  The front bay has an aluminum window, as do all the window openings.  There is a small, central chimney.  Behind the main residence, there is an L-shaped second residence.  An open carport occupies the inside corner.  The rear residence is clad in stucco and has a front-facing, low sloping, gabled roof.  The front building is set toward the front of a level, rectangular lot; the other building is at the rear.  A driveway runs along the east side of the front building leading to the rear building.  A chain link fence encloses the grass yard.

History:  The front residence was built in 1905 for Sarah Butler,
 who lived at 2717 East Paloma Street.  It was built as a “3 room, California house” for $160.  Ms Butler was an absentee owner who may never have lived at the house.  The footprint of the house in 1922 appears to be roughly the same as it is today (Figure 16).  By 1906, the resident of the house is John J. Husnick (see property B).  The rear residence was probably built sometime after 1953, as there is no record of its existence on the 1953 Sanborn Map (Figure 17).

Property F
Description:  The front building of four on the property is a single story residence, configured in a rectangle in plan. Two bays wide, it has side facing gabled roof with a lower, front facing porch roof.  Although the wood sided building was re-clad in smooth stucco, remaining Arts & Crafts features include the overhanging eaves and decorative knee braces.  The eaves have had fascia boards added.  The central, front porch has been altered by the addition of stucco, the supports have stucco finishes as well.  All windows were replaced by flush mounted aluminum sliders with security bars.  The building is set toward the front of a level, rectangular lot.  A driveway runs along the west side of the front building leading to three small residences in the rear of the lot.  A chain link fence encloses the front yard.  The rear residences, described front-to-back as 1, 2 and 3, are configured in a square (1), and irregular Ls (2 and 3) in plan.  The very small rear residences are closely spaced.  Building 1 is clad in shiplap siding with cornerboards, has a small, central front porch (the supports of which have been removed) and was retrofitted with aluminum sliding windows.  Buildings 2 and 3 have front-facing gabled roofs, inset porches and have been re-clad in textured stucco.

History:  The front residence was built in 1911 for John Husnick (see Properties B and E).  The building was built as a “five room, one-story residence at the front of the lot” for $1,000.  John W. Jenkins lived at the property between 1915 and 1935, and his profession is variously listed as a laborer, ironworker and riveter.  In 1915, Jenkins built the three “four room, one story residence[s]” for $400 each.  Mr. G. Nelson served as his architect and contractor.

Property G
Description:  Property G is a grouping of eight small, single story residential buildings with a garage at the rear.  The eight buildings are arranged in two lines of four, north to south with a central sidewalk.  At the street, a large fountain marks the entrance.  The residences are nearly identical:  all have front-facing, gabled roofs, smaller front porch roofs (the supports of which have been removed, they have been re-clad in heavy textured stucco, have false brick bases and sliding aluminum, flush mounted windows.  The roofs are clad in asphalt shingles and have narrow eaves with fascia boards.  The buildings are closely spaced on the flat, rectangular lot, simply landscaped by a small lawn and trees.  The shared garage is located at the rear of the lot, with a driveway on the east side.  A decorative metal fence delineates the front yard at the sidewalk.

History:  Early Sanborn maps show a four-unit building with a smaller residence in the rear, on this lot.  Both were demolished in April 1971, by neighbor Jim Sanceri (of 1200 East 52nd Street).  In May 1971, Sanceri relocated the eight small dwellings (for $2,000 each) and an eight-car garage (for $1,000).  The moved dwellings had previously been relocated to Mr. Sanceri’s address from another nearby location (1209-1227 East 52nd Street) in 1959.  The houses were probably moved in 1959 to make way for the expansion of Hooper Avenue School.

Property H
Description:  The Fire Station #21 complex has three main components: the station, training tower and covered pump pit (Figure 18: Plot and Key Plan).  The station building is a single story, configured in an irregular L in plan.  At the rear, there is a 36-foot high, slender hose tower.  The building is Streamline Moderne in style, those features include the studied asymmetry of the composition, flat roofs, horizontal orientation and fillet bands, use of ribbon windows, smooth stucco surfaces and curves.  It has flat, main and hose tower roofs, with coping at the rooflines (Figures 19 and 20:  Fire Station #21, Front (South) and Right (East) Elevations). 

The hose tower and training tower (at rear, Figure 21:  Training Tower, South Elevation) each have asymmetrical, exaggerated, overhanging ledges on the east sides.

The single-story, front elevation of the main station building is on the west side of the lot, close to the street and is dominated by the large, off-center, garage doors.  The stucco-finished front elevation
 is expressed in two main bays: the entrance and garage.  The entrance bay features a nearly full-length, flat roofed porch.  Beneath the porch, there is a ribbon of wide, continuous, three-light high awning-type windows, immediately adjacent to the distinctive front door.  The door has a large, round porthole window, glazed in obscure glass.  The flat roof has quarter-round, radiused corners and presents a line of polished steel letters that read “FIRE STATION NO 21.”  Other than the porch bay, the front elevation is a large, smooth stucco, Γ-shape.  The long, upper portion deeply overhangs the garage bay, and terminates in a sweeping, half-round curve on the east side.  A high flagpole vertically penetrates the curve.  Beneath the curve, a high, solid wall shares the front plane of the elevation, and terminates in an interlocking, equal sized, opposite oriented, half-round curve.  The flagpole base is within the niche created by the wall termination.  Simple coping detailed exactly as the building coping tops the flat, smooth wall.  The wall encloses large gates to the extensive property.

The east elevation of the main station building is painted, plastered brick, laid up in a variant of the common bond.  A ribbon of five recessed, one-over-one windows is deeply set on the east wall.  At the rear of the east wall, the slender hose tower steps out from the flat wall.  Viewed from the street, the stucco-finished tower is punctuated by a banded group of louvers, set at the top, wrapping around the front (south), side (west) and rear (north) sides.  The continuous louvers are vertically divided with irregularly spaced mullions.  The simple tower is completed by the flat, overhanging, asymmetrical roof.

The reinforced concrete training tower building is set toward the center of the large parcel.  It is configured in a rectangle, with a two-story base and smaller, three story tower above.  The asymmetrical front-facing elevation is two bays wide, and is configured in an L.  Each of the ground floor bays has simple doors, with unequal sized windows on the east sides.  The west bay has a large, multi-light window, enclosed by security bars; the east bay has a smaller, six-light (three-over-three) window.  The second floor has simple, punched windows, which line up vertically, with all but the west door.  The third, fourth and fifth floors are in the small tower portion, with a single bay of two windows, vertically aligned, on each floor.  The third floor has a casement window (on the west); the openings above have no windows.  The east side has narrow fire escapes, with a door (third floor), and board-ups (fourth and fifth floors).  On the fifth floor, a metal ladder leads to the roof.  Like the hose tower, the flat roof overhangs on the south, east and north sides.  A simple piperail railing circumscribes the square roof.

The pump pit is located behind the training tower.  The apparatus in the “pit” is covered by a carport-type roof, with open sides.

The complex is located on a flat, nearly entirely paved lot, which stretches, mid-block, between East 51st and 52nd streets.  It is enclosed by a variety of walls, with concertina wire at the top.  On the East 51st Street side, there is an opening in the wall, with a gate.

History:  The current Fire Station #21 building was completed in December 1941.  The opening date was December 15, 1941, eight days after the Japanese air raid on Pearl Harbor.  The United States entered the second World War within the month the fire station was completed.  The original fire station building was built in 1907, but suffered damage in the Long Beach earthquake of 1933.  As a result of earthquake damage, the fire company was temporarily relocated to 4925 Compton Avenue.  The new facility, “Engine Co. No. 21” was designed by the City of Los Angeles, Board of Public Works, Bureau of Construction.
  Holton Construction Company erected the complex at a cost of $51,000.  Architect Peter K. Schabarum approved the plans.

As an employee of the City of Los Angeles, Schabarum (1891-1950) was responsible for the designs of numerous municipal buildings.  His designs include the Valley Municipal Building/Van Nuys City Hall (built 1932, 14410 Sylvan Street, Van Nuys, Historic-Cultural Monument #202) and Fire Station #27 (built 1930, 1355 North Cahuenga Avenue, Hollywood, Historic-Cultural Monument #165).  He prepared plans for Holy Name Academy
 in Pomona, as well.

Although other styles were studied, including Romanesque Revival and exaggerated moderne design, Fire Station #21 was executed in a restrained variation of the Streamline Moderne style.  Its Streamline features include the studied asymmetry, flat roofs, horizontal orientation and fillet bands, use of ribbon windows, smooth surfaces, curves and porthole window.  Fire Station #21 is an excellent example of Streamline Moderne; the vertical hose tower stands out in stark contrast to the controlled horizontal main building.  The training tower is a simple, utilitarian building, although its asymmetrical, flat roof corresponds to the roof on the hose tower 

Fire Station #21 is a comparatively small main building at just over 4,100 square feet.  When it was built, Fire Station #27, in Hollywood was 22,000 square feet, and believed to the largest west of the Mississippi.  The station parcel stretches between East 51st and East 52nd Street, and is more than 30,600 square feet.
  The five-story training tower is 2,400 square feet.

The training tower is the oldest of four active training towers in the Los Angeles Fire Department system.
  Other training towers remain at Fire Station #89 (built 1959,
 7073 Laurel Canyon Boulevard, North Hollywood), Fire Station #59 (built 1963,
 11505 West Olympic Boulevard) and Drill Tower #40 (built 1985, 406 Tuna Street, Terminal Island).

Like all fire stations, Fire Station #21 has its own lore, most of which revolves around the station’s mascots.  At the turn of the twentieth century, the first was not exactly a mascot, “Snowball” was a horse used to pull the early hose cart.  By the 1960s, “Champ” was lauded in a Los Angeles Times article as the “last example of an illustrious breed-- the Dalmatian firedog.”
 

The ensemble of the training tower and the main building collectively make a property that appears eligible for listing in the California Register under criterion 3.  The main station building embodies distinctive characteristics of the Streamline Moderne style, fire station facility.  It represents a unique period, having opened one week after the war (World War II) was declared in the United States (but was designed during the period immediately leading to the war).  The method of the main station building construction, plastered, reinforced concrete (and plastered brick) is rare.  And it represents work of an important creative individual, Peter K. Schabarum, who influenced municipal architecture in Los Angeles.  Overall, the ensemble of buildings possesses high artistic values.  The pumping pit was added in 1961 and does not appear eligible for California Register listing.

Integrity

To be listed in the California Register, a property must be shown to be significant under at least one of the four criteria, and it also must retain integrity.  A property either retains its integrity, the physical and visual characteristics necessary to convey its significance, or it does not.  The concept of integrity recognizes various aspects or qualities that, in various combinations, define integrity.  The seven aspects of integrity are: location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association.  To retain its historic integrity, a property must possess several, and usually most, of these aspects.

ADVANCE \d4
California Register regulations 4852 (c) provide that “it is possible that historical resources may not retain sufficient integrity to meet the criteria for listing in the National Register, but they may still be eligible for listing in the California Register.”  OHP has consistently interpreted this to mean that a California Register-eligible property must retain “substantial” integrity.

California Register Evaluations

The following is a brief evaluation of each property for California Register significance under both significance requirements and integrity criteria.  Please refer to individual building descriptions and histories, and Table 2 for additional information.

	Table 1


	Property
	Year Built, Alterations
	Integrity
	California Register Evaluation

	A
	1921 and 1922, stucco applied over wood siding, windows and doors replaced, security bars added
	Does not retain: materials, design or workmanship
	None of these properties appear eligible for listing in California Register:  they are not associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of California’s history and cultural heritage (criterion 1); they are not associated with the lives of persons important in our past (criterion 2); they do not embody distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, nor represent the work of an important creative individual or possess high artistic values (criterion 3); and they have not and are not likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history (criterion 4).

In addition, this grouping of buildings does not appear eligible in total or part as an historic district.

	B
	1915, stone cladding added to wood siding, windows replaced, east bay enlarged, chimney stack removed
	Does not retain:

materials, design or workmanship
	

	C
	1925, security bars
	Retains:  location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association

	

	D
	1928, tile roof added to front porch, porch supports replaced
	Retains:  location and setting, although materials, workmanship, feeling and association have been lost by alterations
	

	E
	1905, residence relocated to rear of lot- 1908, stucco applied over wood siding, windows and doors replaced, porch railing removed, possible addition to rear
	Does not retain:

location, materials, design, setting or workmanship
	

	F
	1911 (front) 1915 (three at rear)

front- stucco applied over wood siding, windows and doors replaced, security bars and fascia boards added, porch supports altered; rear- porch supports removed, windows replaced (1), stucco applied over wood siding (2, 3)
	Does not retain:

materials, design, setting or workmanship (front); materials or design (1); materials, design, workmanship (2 and 3)
	

	G
	1971, buildings relocated to site from 1200-1204 East 52nd Street; had previously been relocated in 1959 from another address on East 52nd Street, all windows replaced, stucco applied over wood siding, brick applied to base, porch supports removed
	Does not retain:  location, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling or association 
	

	H
	1941, demolished residences on East 51st Street to enlarge training area, added pumper test pit, shelter and drain- 1960, window screens and shatterproof windows- 1971, drinking fountain- 1991, interior conversion of women’s bath and locker facility- 2000  
	Retains integrity of : location materials, design, workmanship, location, setting, feeling and association

(see below)
	Appears eligible for listing in California Register:  embodies distinctive characteristics of a type (Streamline Moderne fire station), period (immediately pre-World War II), region, or method of construction, represents work of an important creative individual (Schabarum) and possesses high artistic values (criterion 3).


Property H- Integrity:  The property retains substantial integrity.  Fire Station #21 is in excellent condition, and although minor alterations have been made since it was built, it retains sufficient integrity to qualify for California Register consideration.  The fire station has been in the current location since 1907, when the first of three buildings used as fire stations was built, and it therefore retains integrity of location.  The carefully executed Streamline Moderne design, has been retained, few alterations have been made.  The setting, although changed from a rural area (turn of the century), to a middle class neighborhood of single-family homes, apartments and a school
 (mid-century), to a working class neighborhood (current day), is essentially the same as when Fire Station #21 was built in 1941.  Because the building has been exceptionally well maintained by fire department personnel, it retains integrity of materials, despite minor alterations (refer to Table 2 for a description of alterations).  The design and building have been so little altered, it retains substantial integrity of its workmanship, or skill used to build the station.  In that the Fire Station was built by the city, as an active fire station and training facility, and its use as each of those continues, its integrity of feeling and association remain intact.  Each of these elements of integrity remains in the Fire Station #21 complex, and it therefore retains sufficient integrity for California Register consideration.

Conclusion

Properties A-G do not appear to qualify for California Register listing and thus are not considered historical resources under CEQA.  Because Properties A-G do not qualify as historical resources, their demolition would not have an effect on historical resources.  No further evaluation of project effects on Properties A-G is necessary under CEQA as it relates to cultural resources.

Only Property H (Fire Station #21) appears to qualify for listing in the California Register, and is therefore as an historical resource under CEQA.  While the proposed project, which may involve demolition or alteration of Property H (Fire Station #21) would likely result in a finding of substantial adverse change on the identified historical resource, it may result in a less-than-significant impact on the historical resource, if proposed alterations and additions were found to be consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation and project mitigation would reduce impacts on the historical resource to a less than significant level.

Please call me at (818) 788-7954, if you have any questions.

Very truly yours,

CHATTEL ARCHITECTURE, PLANNING & PRESERVATION, INC.
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By:  


Francesca Smith

Senior Architectural Historian

enclosures

�  This section establishes an exemption for projects involving the maintenance, rehabilitation, restoration, preservation, or reconstruction of historical resources, provided that the activity meets published federal standards for the treatment of historic properties. These federal standards describe means of preserving, rehabilitating, restoring, and reconstructing historic buildings without adversely affecting their historic significance. Use of this exemption, like all categorical exemptions, is limited by the factors described in section 15300.2 and is not to be used where the activity would cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource (� HYPERLINK "http://ceres.ca.gov/topic/" ��http://ceres.ca.gov/topic/�env_law/ceqa/guidelines/ art19.html).





�   No date is given in the “Historic Property Data File” for the evaluation of Property H.  Most likely, it was not evaluated for California Register eligibility at the time.


� City of Los Angeles Southeast Los Angles Community Plan May 2001


�  Roger G. Cowan, Ranchos of California: A List of Spanish Concessions 1775-1822 and Mexican Grants 1822-1846 (Los Angeles: Historical Society of Southern California, 1977) 151.


�  Patricia Adler, City of Los Angeles, Planning Department “Early History of Watts” unpublished, typed document, 4 February 1966, 4.


�  Adler 4.


�  Adler 4.


�  Adler 3.


�  Adler 3.


� Janet I. Atkinson Los Angeles County Historical Directory (Jefferson, North Carolina: McFarland & Company, Inc., Publishers) 1933, 176.


�  Adler 5.


�  “Watts Station Declared: ‘of Historic Significance’ ”Los Angeles Sentinel 9 December 1965:10A.


�  Los Angeles City Archives “Watts Record Collection” 10 June 1983, np.


�  Gudde 359.


�  Los Angeles City Archives np.


�  Governor’s Commission on the Los Angeles Riots “Violence in the City; An End or a Beginning?” 2 December 1965, np.


�  “Violence in the City; An End or a Beginning?”


�  Watts Labor Community Action Committee website: www.wlcal.org.


�  The 1992 Civil Unrest was less centralized than the Watts Riots, originating at the corner of Florence and Normandie avenues (South Central), and spreading to portions of Long Beach, West Hollywood, Koreatown and downtown.


�  Captain Larry Schneider “History of the LAFD- The Early Days” (www.lafd.org/p1.htm).


�  Captain Larry Schneider  “History of the LAFD-Into the 1900s” (www.lafd.org/p1.htm).


�  Southwest Builder & Contractor  6 April, 1928, 56.


�  Sarah Butler may have been one of 10 persons of that name listed in the California Social Security Death Index.  There was a noteworthy African-American group, known as Sarah Butler’s Chorus in Los Angeles, according to the Federal Writers Project (The Story of the Negro In Los Angeles, 1936).  If the owner of the residence was the same Ms. Butler, she was an absentee owner and the residence would not be closely enough associated with her to be significant. 


�  Original plans specified “concrete and stucco brush coat.”


�   City of Los Angeles, City of Los Angeles, Board of Public Works, Bureau of Construction “Engine Co. No. 21,” plans and elevations, no date (circa 1924), 1-5.


�   Southwest Builder & Contractor 25 March, 1927, 47.


�  City of Los Angeles, Fire Department “Fact Sheet Fire Station #21,” typed unpublished information, no date, 1.


�  Captain Larry Schneider, Fire Station #50, interview with Francesca Smith, 5 May, 2002.


�  Captain Al Poirier, Fire Station #89, interview with Francesca Smith, 7 May, 2002.


�  Dates are derived from Los Angeles Fire Department’s website, www.lafd.org/archives.htm.  The archive is an ongoing project by Captain Larry Schneider.


�  Lance Brisson “Last Dalmatian Firedog Now 7, Still on Duty”  Los Angeles Times, 12 August, 1963,  I-28.


�   Although Property C retains sufficient integrity to qualify for California Register consideration, it is a fair example of a very common type (Spanish Eclectic residence) 


�  Hooper Avenue School was built in approximately 1925.  The original architects were E.C. and Ellis Wing Taylor.  Because it would not be affected by the proposed project, it is not evaluated as part of this study.


Southwest Builder & Contractor 4 July, 1924, 50.
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